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(iii) Information on scheduled court 
or other administrative or regulatory 
proceedings. 

(4) In the event that notice is pro-
vided after the initiation of an action, 
in addition to the requirements set 
forth in paragraph (c)(3) of this section, 
the notice shall further include a com-
plete, unredacted copy of any docu-
ment filed by any party in relation to 
the action and any orders issued by the 
court or other body. 

(5) If the State Official, after pro-
viding the notice described in para-
graphs (c)(1) and (c)(2) of this section, 
intends to file a complaint, motion for 
relief, or similar document that is ma-
terially different from the document 
included with the notice, the State Of-
ficial shall provide a copy of that docu-
ment prior to filing, in accordance with 
the method described in paragraph 
(a)(2) of this section. 

(d) Bureau response. In any action de-
scribed in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this 
section, the Bureau may: 

(1) Intervene in the action as a party; 
(2) Upon intervening, 
(i) Remove the action to the appro-

priate United States district court, if 
the action was not originally brought 
there; and 

(ii) Be heard on all matters arising in 
the action; 

(3) Appeal any order or judgment, to 
the same extent as any other party in 
the proceeding may; and 

(4) Otherwise participate in the ac-
tion as appropriate. 

(e) Confidentiality and privilege. (1) 
The information described in para-
graph (c) of this section, including the 
complaint, motion for relief, or other 
document, as well as the fact that no-
tice has been provided, shall be subject 
to any limitations on disclosure im-
posed by the State Official pursuant to 
paragraph (c)(1)(viii) of this section; 
provided, however, that the recipient 
may disclose such information: 

(i) As required by law; 
(ii) When the information is or be-

comes publicly available; 
(iii) With the consent of the State Of-

ficial; or 
(iv) To another State or Federal gov-

ernment entity when necessary to pro-
tect the public interest, after consulta-
tion with the State Official who pro-
vided the notice. 

(2) Provision of notice by a State Of-
ficial and disclosure of information 
pursuant to paragraph (e)(1) of this sec-
tion shall not be deemed a waiver of 
any applicable privilege. 

(f) No private right of action or defense. 
The requirements set forth in this sec-
tion are not intended to, do not, and 
may not be relied upon to create any 
right, benefit, or defense, substantive 
or procedural, enforceable at law by a 
party against the United States or any 
State enforcing the provisions of the 
Dodd-Frank Act or any regulation pre-
scribed thereunder. 

PART 1083—CIVIL PENALTY 
ADJUSTMENTS 

AUTHORITY: 12 U.S.C. 2609(d); 12 U.S.C. 
5113(d)(2); 12 U.S.C. 5565(c); 15 U.S.C. 1639e(k); 
15 U.S.C. 1717a(a); 28 U.S.C. 2461 note. 

§ 1083.1 Adjustments of civil penalty 
amounts. 

(a) The maximum amount of each 
civil penalty within the jurisdiction of 
the Consumer Financial Protection Bu-
reau to impose is adjusted in accord-
ance with the Federal Civil Penalties 
Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, as 
amended by the Debt Collection Im-
provement Act of 1996 and further 
amended by the Federal Civil Penalties 
Inflation Adjustment Act Improve-
ments Act of 2015, (28 U.S.C. 2461 note) 
as follows: 

U.S. code citation Civil penalty description 
Adjusted 

maximum civil 
penalty amount 

12 U.S.C. 5565(c)(2)(A) .............................................. Tier 1 penalty ............................................................ $5,437 
12 U.S.C. 5565(c)(2)(B) .............................................. Tier 2 penalty ............................................................ 27,186 
12 U.S.C. 5565(c)(2)(C) .............................................. Tier 3 penalty ............................................................ 1,087,450 
15 U.S.C. 1717a(a)(2) ................................................. Per violation ............................................................... 1,894 
15 U.S.C. 1717a(a)(2) ................................................. Annual cap ................................................................ 1,893,610 
12 U.S.C. 2609(d)(1) ................................................... Per failure .................................................................. 89 
12 U.S.C. 2609(d)(1) ................................................... Annual cap ................................................................ 178,156 
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U.S. code citation Civil penalty description 
Adjusted 

maximum civil 
penalty amount 

12 U.S.C. 2609(d)(2)(A) .............................................. Per failure, where intentional .................................... 178 
12 U.S.C. 5113(d)(2) ................................................... Per violation ............................................................... 27,455 
15 U.S.C. 1639e(k)(1) ................................................. First violation ............................................................. 10,875 
15 U.S.C. 1639e(k)(2) ................................................. Subsequent violations ............................................... 21,749 

(b) The adjustments in paragraph (a) 
of this section shall apply to civil pen-
alties assessed after July 14, 2016, re-
gardless of when the violation for 
which the penalty is assessed occurred. 

[81 FR 38571, June 14, 2016] 

PART 1090—DEFINING LARGER 
PARTICIPANTS OF CERTAIN CON-
SUMER FINANCIAL PRODUCT 
AND SERVICE MARKETS 

Subpart A—General 

Sec. 
1090.100 Scope and purpose. 
1090.101 Definitions. 
1090.102 Status as larger participant subject 

to supervision. 
1090.103 Assessing status as a larger partici-

pant. 

Subpart B—Markets 

1090.104 Consumer Reporting Market. 
1090.105 Consumer debt collection market. 
1090.106 Student loan servicing market. 
1090.107 International Money Transfer Mar-

ket. 
1090.108 Automobile financing market. 

AUTHORITY: 12 U.S.C. 5514(a)(1)(B); 12 U.S.C. 
5514(a)(2); 12 U.S.C. 5514(b)(7)(A); and 12 
U.S.C. 5512(b)(1). 

SOURCE: 77 FR 42898, July 20, 2012, unless 
otherwise noted. 

Subpart A—General 

§ 1090.100 Scope and purpose. 

This part defines those nonbank cov-
ered persons that qualify as larger par-
ticipants of certain markets for con-
sumer financial products or services 
pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 5514(a)(1)(B) and 
(a)(2). A larger participant of a market 
covered by this part is subject to the 
supervisory authority of the Bureau 
under 12 U.S.C. 5514. This part also es-
tablishes rules to facilitate the Bu-
reau’s supervision of such larger par-

ticipants pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 
5514(b)(7). 

§ 1090.101 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this part, the fol-

lowing definitions apply: 
Affiliated company means any com-

pany (other than an insured depository 
institution or insured credit union) 
that controls, is controlled by, or is 
under common control with, a person. 

(1) For purposes of this definition 
‘‘company’’ means any corporation, 
limited liability company, business 
trust, general or limited partnership, 
proprietorship, cooperative, associa-
tion, or similar organization. 

(2) A person has control over another 
person if: 

(i) The person directly or indirectly 
or acting through one or more other 
persons owns, controls, or has power to 
vote 25 percent or more of any class of 
voting securities or similar ownership 
interest of the other person; 

(ii) The person controls in any man-
ner the election of a majority of the di-
rectors, trustees, members, or general 
partners of the other person; or 

(iii) The person directly or indirectly 
exercises a controlling influence over 
the management or policies of the 
other person. 

Assistant Director means the Bureau’s 
Assistant Director for Nonbank Super-
vision or her or his designee. The Di-
rector of the Bureau may perform the 
functions of the Assistant Director 
under this part. In the event there is no 
such Assistant Director, the Director 
of the Bureau may designate an alter-
native Bureau employee to fulfill the 
duties of the Assistant Director under 
this part. 

Bureau means the Bureau of Con-
sumer Financial Protection. 

Completed fiscal year means a tax year 
including any fiscal year, calendar 
year, or short tax year. ‘‘Fiscal year,’’ 
‘‘calendar year,’’ ‘‘tax year,’’ and 
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